IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 95,136

ROLANDO GARCIA,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1958

CHRISTINA A. SPAULDING* Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 995320

Counsel for Appellant

*Counsel wishes to acknowledge the assistance of Gerald Greenberg and Leigha Simonton of Yale Law School in the preparation of this brief

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and sentences of death, entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Jerald Bagley of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida. In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R.," the transcript of the proceedings as "T.," and the supplemental record as "S.R." References to appellant's 1988 hearing, of which this Court has taken judicial notice, are cited as "1988 T." and references to the co-defendant's trial, Florida Supreme Court case number 72,463 are cited as "Pardo T."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Introduction

Appellant, Rolando Garcia, and his co-defendant, Manuel Pardo, were charged in 1986 with a total of nine homicides. For fourteen years, Mr. Garcia has maintained his innocence of these crimes. His defense has been that his principal accuser, Carlo Ribera, has perjured himself, and was or may have been Pardo's accomplice in these crimes. To date, Mr. Garcia has been acquitted of five of the homicides, and convicted of two — the killings of Mario Amador and Roberto Alfonso — which are the subject of these appeal. In this case, the trial judge precluded the defense from impeaching Ribera with prior inconsistent statements and excluded testimony from Garcia's co-defendant that exonerated him. At the same time, the court allowed the state to present evidence that bolstered Ribera's credibility and impugned Garcia's character.

Procedural History

This Court briefly described the offenses in *Garcia v. State*, 568 So.2d 896, 899-900 (Fla. 1990), and *Pardo v. State*, 563 So.2d 77, 80-81 (Fla.1990): "The first two murders [Amador and Alfonso] took place on January 22, 1986, and purportedly involved a drug 'rip-off.' The next episode occurred January 28; the victim [Michael Millot]¹ was the man who had made Pardo's silencer and who supposedly was an informant. The third episode, on February 27, [Luis Robledo and Ulipano Ledo]was another probable drug rip-off. The fourth, on April 22, involved two women acquaintances [Sara Musa and Fara Quintero] who had angered Pardo and his accomplice. The final one was on April 23, the victims [Ramon Alvero and Daisy Ricard] being an alleged drug dealer (Pardo's alleged boss) and his woman companion."

Pardo's and Garcia's first trial ended in a mistrial when the court belatedly granted Garcia's motion for severance from Pardo. (S.R. 85) Pardo subsequently went to trial for all nine homicides, and admitted that he intentionally killed victims. (S.R. 171) Pardo testified that Mr. Garcia had no involvement in any of these homicides. (S.R. 226) Pardo was convicted and sentenced to death for each murder.

¹The Millot case was assigned a separate circuit court case number, F86-14719, and Mr. Garcia was not tried for this murder until 1995-96.

Pardo, 563 So.2d at 78. This Court affirmed Pardo's convictions on direct appeal. *Id.* at 81.

Garcia's second trial, which included eight of the nine homicides, ended in another mistrial when the jury was unable to reach a verdict. *Garcia*, 568 So. 2d at 901. Before the third trial, Garcia moved for a severance of counts, which the court partially granted, severing two homicide counts (Musa/Quintera) and related offenses. *Id.* at 897. Garcia then proceeded to trial on six of the nine homicides — Amador/Alfonso, Robledo/Ledo, and Alvero/Ricard. Garcia was acquitted of the Robledo/Ledo homicides and convicted of the other four. *Id.* (R. 50, 52-55; S.R. 343) The jury recommended life imprisonment for the murder of Mario Amador and death for the three other homicides.² (R. 57; S.R. 351-55) The trial judge overrode the jury's life recommendation as to Mr. Amador and imposed four death sentences. (R. 58-67)

On direct appeal, this Court reversed all of the convictions, finding that the six homicides and related charges had been improperly joined for trial, and directed that Garcia be retried separately for the Alvero/Ricard episode and for the Amador/Alfonso episode. *Garcia*, 568 So. 2d at 901. The Court vacated the four death sentences, without addressing the propriety of the jury override. *Id*.

Since this Court's remand, Garcia has been acquitted of all charges in the Millot

²In its opinion, this Court mistakenly stated that the life recommendation was for Alfonso. *Garcia*, 568 So. 2d at 897.

case,³ (S.R. 1616, 1619, 1621), and in the Alvero/Ricard case (R. 366-69). The Musa/Quintera case is still pending.

The Amador/Alfonso Case

On January 22, 1986, Amador and Alfonso were found face down in Amador's apartment, dead from multiple gunshot wounds to the head and neck; Amador had also been shot once in the hip. (T. 2416-17, 2423, 2427, 2431) There was a portable scale on the dining room table, and traces of unidentified white powder outside the front door. (T. 1907-08) There were no signs of forced entry or ransacking. (T. 1908-09, 1955, 1957, 1996) Two .22 caliber pistols, possibly Rugers, were used, one for each victim. (T. 2459-60, 2462, 2471) The murder weapons were never found. (T. 2454)

The homicide remained unsolved for several months, until Carlo Ribera, a friend of Pardo's and Garcia's, contacted the Hialeah Police Department. (T. 2350-5) Ribera gave a sworn, audiotaped statement to investigators on May 5, 1986, under the pseudonym "Number 13," in which he implicated Garcia and Pardo in a number of murders, including one "of this guy they called Mario." (S.R. 1648). Ribera did not, at that time, provide any other details of the Amador/Alfonso shooting.

On May 7, 1986 Pardo was arrested. (T. 2352) In the succeeding days, Ribera was questioned extensively by Metro-Dade Sergeant Theodore MacArthur, the lead

³There were two mistrials in the Millot case — one in October 1995 and another in February 1996. (S.R. 1553, 1585)

detective for all nine of the homicides. (1988 T. 2032) Garcia was arrested on May 23, 1986. (T. 2358)

Carlo Ribera's Testimony

According to the version of Ribera's story elicited by the State at Garcia's trials in 1988 and 1998:

Ribera first met Garcia in December 1985 at a video store where Ribera worked and Garcia was a customer. (1988 T. 2187) The store was owned by a relative of Ribera's, Nelson Estrada, who was a drug dealer, but Ribera maintained that he was never involved in any drug dealing with Estrada. (T. 2174-75)

According to Ribera, Garcia bragged about being a drug dealer and a hit man, spent money lavishly on others, including Ribera, and supplied Ribera with drugs. (1988 T. 2188; T. 2170, 2175, 2222) Ribera wanted to get into drug dealing himself because he was "drowning" in debt: his wife was in the hospital, he was being supported by his parents, his car was about to be repossessed, and he "thought this was the only way out." (1988 T. 2189-90, 2194-95) Ribera believed Garcia could come through with a big deal because Garcia bragged that he made a lot of money from drugs. (1988 T. 2197; T. 2174) In the mean time, Ribera acted as Garcia's chauffeur. (T. 2170)

Finally, Ribera said, in March 1986, Garcia invited him to Pardo's house to discuss a possible drug deal. (T. 2172) Ribera claimed that, when he picked Garcia up at his home, Garcia showed him articles about the Amador/Alfonso shooting. (T.

2173-74) When Ribera and Garcia arrived at Pardo's house, Garcia showed Ribera more newspaper articles about Amador, and allegedly told him the following story: that he had arranged to buy two kilos of cocaine from Amador; that he and Pardo had gone to Amador's apartment, where Alfonso was also present; that Pardo brought a briefcase containing guns instead of cash; that when Amador went to get the drugs, Pardo opened the briefcase and took out a gun; that Alfonso started running and Garcia, gun drawn, ran after and brought him back; then Garcia and Pardo, using .22 Rugers with silencers, put Amador and Alfonso on the floor and shot them. (T. 2176-77, 2179, 2180-82) According to Ribera, Pardo then picked up his appointment calendar (the "diary") and referred to an entry for the murders. He gave the diary to Garcia, who put it in the closet, noting that it could get them into trouble. (T. 2182-83)

Ribera said that sometime later, Garcia became very angry, because his associates in the drug business found out that he had killed Amador and didn't want to deal with him anymore. (T. 2188) Ribera claimed that Garcia threatened him and his family, and Ribera attempted unsuccessfully to contact the police; Ribera finally told his story to the police after Garcia threatened him again, because he wouldn't help Pardo leave Florida.⁴ (T. 2188-89)

⁴In fact, Ribera did not actually speak to the Hialeah Police until May 5, twelve days *after* Pardo fled to New York. (1988 T. 3012; S.R. 1622)

Ribera's Undisclosed Statements to Police

Ribera's testimony was the only evidence that directly implicated Garcia in the murders. The remainder of the state's case was purely cicumstantial.⁵ The state presented Ribera at trial as a broke, insignificant hanger-on, who was innocent of any wrongdoing, and naive about the drug world, but to whom Garcia and Pardo had nonetheless disclosed the most minute details of their criminal enterprise. The defense theory at trial was that Ribera was far more involved in Pardo's illicit activities than he acknowledged and had, very possibly, been Pardo's accomplice in the Amador/Alfonso killings.

After the Court's 1990 remand, defense counsel discovered that the state had failed to disclose several hours of videotaped statements that Ribera gave to the Hialeah Police Department on May 6, 1986, immediately after completing the audiotaped interview mentioned above. (R. 95-97) At the conclusion of the videotaped interview, Ribera took a polygraph examination regarding the Musa/Quintero murders. (S.R. 501-08, 452-53, 465-69) Although the videotaped statements were used to impeach Ribera in the Millot case, (S.R. 1239-1333), in which Garcia was acquitted, Judge Gerald Bagley, who took over Garcia's cases, reversed the predecessor judge's ruling and would not allow the statements to be used for

⁵For example, Garcia's fingerprints were found on paperwork for a firearms purchase in which Amador's driver's license was used, two days after the homicides. (T. 2132-4, T. 2156-57) The fictitious address on the forms, however, corresponded closely to Ribera's childhood address. (T. 2216-17).

impeachment in the Amador/Alfonso retrial. Judge Bagley reasoned that (1) the statements were made as part of a polygraph examination,⁶ (2) they were not under oath, and (3) they did not directly concern Ribera's factual account of the Amador and Alfonso homicides.

The Excluded Impeachment Evidence

Ribera's videotaped statements differed from his trial testimony in several respects:

Whereas Ribera said in his testimony that *he* was broke and petitioned Garcia and Pardo for assistance, he said in his videotaped statement, that Pardo and Garcia needed money and came to Ribera and his boss for help. (S.R. 572, 669-70, 673-74) Ribera also said that Garcia wanted a job at the video store so that he wouldn't lose his trailer, and that Ribera, who had savings and commission checks from a former job, had loaned Garcia \$1,000 to make improvements to his mother's trailer. (S.R. 572, 591-92, 655, 669-70, 673-74) While Ribera presented himself at trial as the devoted husband to a gravely ill wife, he acknowledged on the videotape that he was planning to leave his wife and had a girlfriend on the side. (S.R. 733-34, 594)

At trial, Ribera testified that Pardo and Garcia had described the Amador/Alfonso shootings in vivid detail. On the videotape, Ribera said only that

⁶Mr. Ribera was not hooked up to a polygraph machine, nor is the polygraph test or its results mentioned or alluded to in any of the excerpts the defense sought to use. *See* Court Exhibits 1-43. The unedited videotapes are Court Exhibits 44-48.

"they" told him to "read this article and that they killed two people in Fontainbleu."⁷ (S.R. 694) Ribera apparently did not know that two .22 guns were used until a police officer provided the information. (S.R. 693-94)

At trial, Ribera said he had little contact with Pardo. (T. 2284-85) In his videotaped statement, Ribera claimed to have been horseback riding and "things like that" with the Pardo family, where he purportedly saw Pardo's seven-year-old daughter shoot an Uzi. (S.R. 597) Ribera also told police that Pardo's wife "murders people also," and had stolen AIDS-tainted blood from the hospital where she worked, which Pardo injected into his bullets. (S.R. 432)

At trial, Ribera testified that he went to the police because Garcia and/or Pardo had threatened his family. (1988 T. 2271-73, 2276; T. 2188-89)⁸ In his videotaped interview, however, Ribera denied fearing Garcia and Pardo, explaining that he didn't know much about their activities, and boasted that no one threatens him anyway. (S.R 621, 709, 711)

Ribera also made inconsistent statements about Nelson Estrada's involvement in the drug trade; whether Garcia or Pardo threatened Ribera; and who was the "brains" of the pair. (S.R. 670, 583; 558-59, 703, 711, 621; 688, 566) The interviewer admonished Ribera several times about inconsistencies in his statement

⁷This reference is ambiguous, because the Robledo/Ledo homicide also occurred in the Fontainbleu neighborhood. (S.R. 408-09)

⁸In 1988, Ribera said *Pardo* threatened to kill his children. (1988 T. 2271-73) In 1998, Ribera said *Garcia* threatened to kill him and his family. (T. 2188)

and instructed him to tell the truth. (S.R. 671, 674, 710, 567-71, 575-80, 616-19)

Ribera was assured the interview would be kept confidential. (S.R. 651-52) When Ribera apparently failed a polygraph question about his own involvement in the Musa and Quintera murders, he was sent home to sleep.⁹ (S.R. 516, 519, 535-36) The officer interviewing Ribera reassured him, "I want you to pass the test." (S.R. 523) And, "I'm willing to give it as many tries as we need to just so you can pass the test." (S.R. 526) The interview recommenced that evening and, after the test was administered several more times, Ribera was apparently deemed to have passed. (S.R. 472)

Testimony and Argument Regarding Ribera's Credibility

After this case was remanded, Detective W.D. Merritt resumed primary responsibility for the Amador/Alfonso case, because the former lead detective, Sergeant MacArthur, was arrested and ultimately convicted of murdering his wife.¹⁰

⁹Again, the defense did not seek to introduce the polygraph results at trial; they are, however, relevant to the question, presented in this appeal, whether the state misled the jury by implying that its out-of-court "checking" had confirmed Ribera's veracity.

¹⁰At MacArthur's trial in 1993, the same prosecutor's office that had relied on his testimony to convict Garcia attacked MacArthur "a proficient liar" and presented testimony from MacArthur's colleagues in the police department that his motto was "[a] lie is as good as the truth, if someone believes it." *See* John Lantigua, *Cop's Colleagues Cast Doubt on His Honesty*, MIAMI HERALD, December 3, 1993, at 4B. The jury rejected MacArthur's testimony that his wife had accidentally shot herself and convicted him of first degree murder on December 8, 1993. *See* John Lantigua, *Killer Cop's Colleagues Doubted His Innocence*, MIAMI HERALD, December 10, 1993, at 1B. The trial court in this case granted the state's motion in limine to exclude any reference to Detective MacArthur or his legal troubles. (T. 958; S.R. 911-12)

On cross examination of Detective Merritt, the defense established that a composite sketch based on descriptions by other residents of Amador's apartment complex depicted a Latin male with a beard and mustache — as Ribera had at the time.¹¹ (T. 2287, 2385) Detective Merritt could not recall, however, whether the police ever showed Ribera's photo to potential witnesses or compared his fingerprints to those at the crime scene (T. 2383-84) Nevertheless Detective Merritt testified that "the information that [Ribera] gave us was verified to the extent that we did not believe that he was involved." (T. 2380) In fact, Detective Merritt added, "we had even made a trip to Tampa to verify information" (T. 2380) Defense counsel objected at side-bar that Merritt's statement was a reference to a polygraph exam administered in Tampa. (T. 2380) The witness was admonished, outside the jury's presence, not to refer to any of the other homicides or to a polygraph exam. (T. 2381)

In fact, the report of the May 22, 1986 Tampa polygraph examination, to which Merritt adverted, shows that Ribera "passed" the polygraph when he denied that *he* had killed anyone or been present when any of the nine people in question were killed, but the results were "inconclusive" as to Ribera's answers to the remaining questions, including whether Ribera accompanied or "personally participated" with Pardo or Garcia in killing anyone, whether Pardo and Garcia told him about the killings, showed him news clippings about the murders or an arsenal of weapons, and whether

¹¹Detective Merritt insisted that the suspect was described as medium build, but Ribera was obese. (T. 2385) On the videotapes, Ribera appears stocky, but not necessarily obese. If jurors had seen the tapes, they could have judged for themselves.

he had been truthful in his statements to Detective MacArthur. (S.R. 1447-48)

In closing argument, the parties agreed that the case turned on Ribera's credibility. (T. 2593-95, 2599, 2605-06, 2611-12, 2618, 2621, 2631) Notwithstanding the exclusion of Ribera's videotaped statements, the prosecutor argued that "[t]he defense in this case had every opportunity to develop anything that they thought would be of use to them in their case. . . . the defense attorney has the chance to ask whatever the Court says is appropriate area for cross examination. And nothing in this case developed that Carlos Ribera was lying "(T. 2595) The prosecutor reiterated Ribera's testimony, then added, "all of the evidence that the police later uncovered say *(sic)* Ribera is believable, his testimony is to be believed." (T. 2611-12) Over defense objection, the prosecutor continued: "Merritt said over and over again, 'we checked [Ribera] out.' . . . We verified whatever he told us. We didn't know this guy. He came in and told us about these two murders. We checked and we checked and we checked." (T. 2621)

Evidence of Garcia's Bad Character and Amador's Alleged Fear of Him

John Hegarty worked with Amador, a civil engineer, on construction sites and purchased cocaine from him on a regular basis. (T. 2052, 2055, 2057, 2068, 2071-72) Garcia lived at Hegarty's ranch on and off for 1½ years, where he helped care for the horses. (T. 2064, 2068-69) Over defense objection, Hegarty testified that he spoke to Amador about selling a kilo of cocaine to Garcia, and Hegarty "told [Amador] to be careful because I did not trust Rolly and that he might get ripped off by him." (T.

2073) Hegarty could not explain why he distrusted Garcia, except to say that he felt Garcia did not help out enough with work around the ranch. (T. 2074)

Allen Lopez also worked with Amador and bought small quantities of cocaine from him on a regular basis. (T. 2023, 2026) Over defense objection, Lopez was permitted to testify that Amador told him someone named Roly had been at his house with cash to buy a kilo of cocaine and that Amador did not trust Roly and wanted Lopez to be present during the deal. (T. 2031; S.R. 1419) The trial judge apparently agreed with the state's contention that Amador's comments to Lopez were admissible as a statement against interest. (T. 2029-31)

Finally, George Girling, who knew Garcia through Hegarty, testified that he had done small drug deals with Garcia but aborted a one-kilo transaction with Garcia because the cocaine was of low quality. (T. 2101) Girling and Hegarty both acknowledged having conducted a one-kilo transaction with Amador in January 1986. (T. 2102, 2071-72, 2110)

During cross-examination, Detective Merritt volunteered that there had been a message on Amador's answering machine from "a Mr. Haggarty *(sic)* basically warning Mr. . . . " Defense counsel interrupted the witness before he provided hearsay testimony (T. 2375), but in closing argument — over defense objection — the prosecutor supplied the rest of Merritt's testimony, asserting that Hegarty "made a phone call to Mario Amador and he put it on the answering machine . . . and he said, 'this is Hegarty, watch out for Rolly and the white horse deal.'" (T. 2587-88)

Detective Merritt acknowledged that, though he took sworn statements from Hegarty, Lopez, and Girling regarding the Amador/Alfonso killings, the crime was unsolved, and the name Rolando Garcia was not part of the investigation until Ribera appeared at the Hialeah Police Department on May 5, 1986. (T. 2350-51)

Exclusion of Pardo's Former Testimony

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