### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROLANDO GARCIA,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. SC95136

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

#### KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0986682 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone: (813)873-4739 Fax: (813) 356-1292

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Consequently, any error resulting from the admission of the diary entries must be deemed harmless. The cumulative nature of the information contained in the diary entries means that the admission of the diary could not have affected the outcome of the proceedings. <u>See Felder v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2309 (Fla. 3d DCA September 27, 2000), citing <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). <u>Compare Butler v. State</u>, 376 So. 2d 937, 939 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979) (admission of address book of non-testifying co-defendant could have been subject to harmless error analysis).

#### ISSUE V

# NO REVERSIBLE ERROR OCCURRED WITH RESPECT TO THE ADMISSION OF ANY ALLEGED HEARSAY STATEMENTS ADMITTED AT TRIAL.

Appellant challenges the admission of alleged hearsay statements through the testimony of Allen Lopez and John Hegarty, Sr. As discussed below, where Appellant cannot demonstrate an abuse of the trial court's discretion in the admission of the challenged testimony, <u>Alfano</u>, 696 So. 2d 442, 443, no reversible error occurred. Neither did the prosecutor's closing argument related to Hegarty's testimony merit reversal.

# A. Allen Lopez

Over defense objection, Lopez testified that the murder victim, Amador, asked Lopez to be present during a drug deal with Appellant because Amador did not trust Appellant. (T2029-2031). Lopez never testified that Amador directly claimed to be afraid of Appellant or that Amador specifically asked for protection from Lopez. Appellant now claims that the admission of this hearsay testimony requires reversal. However, the trial court properly relied upon <u>Maugeri v. State</u>, 460 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), to overrule Appellant's objection.

In <u>Maugeri</u>, 460 So. 2d 975, the testimony of the murder victim's girlfriend that the victim told her the day before his murder that he had stolen two kilograms of cocaine from the defendant's airplane, although uncontestably hearsay, was properly

admitted as a statement against penal interest. Consequently, the victim's admission to the crime of stealing cocaine provided the motive for the murder. Similarly, Amador's statement to Lopez regarding the upcoming drug deal with Appellant provided the motive for Appellant's murder of Amador. Thus, the hearsay was properly admitted as a statement against penal interest.

Nevertheless, Appellant maintains that the portion of Lopez's statement indicating that Amador did not trust Appellant was improperly admitted. In support of this contention, Appellant provides the example of <u>Stoll v. State</u>, 762 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). However, the facts of <u>Stoll</u> are readily distinguishable from the instant case. In <u>Stoll</u>, the challenged hearsay concerned statements made by the victim concerning her fear of the defendant. Such hearsay was not admissible under the state-of-mind exception to the hearsay rule. <u>See Stoll</u>, 762 So. 2d 870, 874. Error was ascribed to the admission of the victim's hearsay statements in <u>Stoll</u> because the victim's state of mind is not a material issue in a murder case. 762 So. 2d at 874 (citations omitted).

In comparison, Lopez never stated that Amador was afraid of Appellant. Rather, Amador expressed that he did not trust Appellant. This statement could just as easily be limited to Amador's trust in Appellant with regard to completing the cocaine transaction as opposed to a physical fear of Appellant. Therefore, the concern raised in <u>Stoll</u> is not applicable to this case.

Ultimately, even if Lopez should not have been permitted to mention Amador's distrust of Appellant, any resulting error would be harmless in view of the other evidence of Appellant's guilt, including Ribera's testimony, (T2169-2240), Pardo's diary, (T2301, 2355-2356), and Appellant's fingerprints on the federal gun forms. (T2156-2158). <u>See Correll v. State</u>, 523 So. 2d 562, 565-566 (Fla. 1988) (Erroneous admission of testimony regarding murder victim's statements concerning her fear of defendant was harmless error, in view of other evidence against defendant.)

# B. John Hegarty, Sr.

Appellant failed to preserve the current challenge to the testimony of John Hegarty, Sr. While Appellant maintains that Hegarty testified over objection to his distrust of Appellant, the record demonstrates that no objection was made to this specific testimony. The record reveals the following direct examination by the State:

**State:** Now, at about that time and after you took Mr. Girling to Mario Amador's apartment, did Mr. Amador speak to you about a drug deal with the defendant?

Hegarty, Sr.: Yes, he had.

State: What did he say?

Hegarty, Sr.: He said that Rolando had called him -

Defense: Objection.

**Court:** Overruled.

**Hegarty, Sr.:** And wanted to make a deal with him as far as a kilo. And I told him to be careful because I did

not trust Rolly and that he might get ripped off by him. (T2072-2073).

Hegarty went on to make two other statements regarding his distrust of Appellant, (T2073, 2074), without objection. In fact, the record shows that Appellant never objected to any of Hegarty's testimony on the grounds of improper character evidence as asserted on appeal. Therefore, this issue was not preserved for appellate review. <u>See Burnett v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 971, 972 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (general objection failed to preserve claim that improper evidence of bad character was admitted), citing <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 471 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1985).

Moreover, Hegarty's testimony regarding his statement to Lopez that Appellant killed Amador was made on redirect in response to defense counsel's questions about Hegarty's statement to Lopez that Amador was involved in a deal with Appellant on the night of the murder. (T2080-2081). Defense counsel insinuated that Hegarty made the statement to Lopez to exonerate himself and implicate Appellant in the murder. Thus, the question on redirect was proper rebuttal, and, in any event, harmless in view of the other evidence of quilt. <u>See Burnett</u>, 605 So. 2d 971, 972.

# C. Prosecutor's comments in closing.

Appellant also maintains that the prosecutor improperly referred to matters outside the record in closing argument. Specifically, the prosecutor referenced a message left by Hegarty on Amador's answering machine. While this information did not come

in through Detective Merritt's testimony, Hegarty did testify to the same information. Hegarty stated, "I called him [Amador] up and I told him to beware of Rolly [Appellant] and the deal with the white horse and that - because he told me he was making a deal with Rolly that week. And I told him that night, and I said make sure you get help or backup or whatever." (T2074). Thus, where the information was cumulative in nature, any error in the prosecutor's closing must be deemed harmless.<sup>5</sup>

Automatic reversal of a conviction on the basis of prosecutorial error is not warranted, unless the errors are so basic to a fair trial that they can never be considered harmless. The standard of review is whether "the error committed was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial." <u>See Pacifico v.</u> <u>State</u>, 642 So. 2d 1178, 1184 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), quoting <u>State v.</u> <u>Murray</u>, 443 So. 2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1984). Where the information of Hegarty's phone call to Amador came in through Hegarty's testimony, any comment by the prosecutor on this topic cannot have been improperly prejudicial.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As a side note, Appellee would point out that Hegarty also testified in the 1988 trial regarding this information, adding only that he left a message on Amador's answering machine. (1988 T2486-2488). Thus, the prosecutor's reference to the answering machine in the 1998 trial cannot fairly be considered an *intentional* argument based upon facts outside the record.

#### ISSUE VI

# NO CUMULATIVE ERROR REQUIRING REVERSAL HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED.

This cumulative error claim is not an independent claim, but is contingent upon Appellant demonstrating error in the first five issues discussed above. Where each of the claims urged in support of Appellant's cumulative error claim has also been asserted as an individual claim for relief, the State will rely on the arguments presented supra in opposition to those claims. As the State's arguments demonstrate, each of the claims contained within this cumulative error issue are either without merit or are procedurally barred. Thus, this claim must be denied. <u>See Rose v. State</u>, 2000 WL 1508576, n. 10 (Fla. October 12, 2000), citing <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506, 509, n. 5 (Fla. 1999)(finding that where allegations of individual error are found without merit, a cumulative error argument based thereon must also fail).

#### **ISSUE VII**

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PRECLUDED THE ADMISSION OF PARDO'S FORMER TESTIMONY AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

Appellant contends that the trial court reversibly erred in precluding the admission of Pardo's former testimony during the penalty phase. While Appellant specifically waived his right to put on mitigating evidence and to challenge the aggravating evidence, Appellant did take the stand. (T2716-2717, 2719). Appellant testified simply that he was seeking the death penalty so that the proper court would hear his appeal. (T2746). Appellant reiterated his request for the death penalty when he spoke to the trial judge at his sentencing hearing. (T2775-2791). Appellant's request was granted.

Now, Appellant seeks reversal of his sentence, arguing that the rules of evidence are more lax in the penalty phase, and, therefore, the trial court should have admitted Pardo's former testimony. However, a defendant's right to introduce hearsay testimony at the sentencing phase is not unlimited. <u>See Griffin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 639 So. 2d 966, 970 (Fla. 1994), citing <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 578 So. 2d 685, 690 (Fla. 1990), <u>vacated on other grounds</u>, 505 U.S. 1215, 112 S.Ct. 3020, 120 L.Ed.2d 892 (1992). "While the rules of evidence have been relaxed somewhat for penalty proceedings, they have not been rescinded...." <u>See Griffin</u>, 639 So. 2d 966, 970, quoting <u>Hitchcock</u>, 578 So. 2d 685, 690.

As in <u>Hitchcock</u>, 578 So. 2d 685, 690, where the trial court refused to admit the trial transcript of a police officer's testimony during the penalty phase, the trial court properly precluded the admission of Pardo's testimony. As discussed above in Issue III, the State did not have the requisite similar motive for cross-examining Pardo in his own trial compared to the motive relevant to Appellant's trial, thus Pardo's testimony constituted inadmissible hearsay. <u>See</u> Section 90.804(2)(a). <u>See also</u> <u>DiNapoli</u>, 8 F.3d 909. The same reasoning for excluding Pardo's testimony in the guilt phase applies equally to the penalty phase in this case.

According to Appellant's own case law, hearsay may be admitted in a penalty phase proceeding only if there is an opportunity to rebut it. <u>See Lawrence v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1073 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 522 U.S. 880, 118 S.Ct. 205, 139 L.Ed.2d 141 (1997); and <u>Mendoza v. State</u>, 700 So. 2d 670, 675 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 525 U.S. 839, 119 S.Ct. 101, 142 L.Ed.2d 81 (1998). Here, the trial judge specifically ruled that Pardo's former testimony was inadmissible because the State did not have a similar motive for cross-examining Pardo in his trial as compared to Appellant's. Thus, no valid opportunity existed for the State to rebut this testimony. Consequently, the trial court properly determined that Pardo's testimony was inadmissible in the penalty phase.

Additionally, Appellant waived his right to put on any mitigating evidence. Therefore, while Pardo's former testimony was not available to him, he chose not to present any other evidence in mitigation of the death penalty. Under these circumstances, where the judge acted within his discretion in precluding the admission of Pardo's testimony, Appellant cannot claim reversible error. <u>See Griffin</u>, 639 So. 2d at 970 (no error in failure to admit selfserving hearsay as mitigation where defendant not otherwise precluded from presenting evidence of remorse).

Moreover, even if Appellant had been permitted to present Pardo's testimony in mitigation, the aggravators established by the evidence far outweighed any possible mitigation.<sup>6</sup> The trial court found the following aggravating circumstances: Appellant's previous convictions for another capital felony or violent crimes, the fact that the two murders were committed during the commission of an armed robbery and for pecuniary gain and the cold, calculated and premeditated manner in which the murders were committed. (SR 1439). As such, any error related to the lack of evidence in support of such weak mitigation must be deemed harmless in the face of the strong aggravating circumstances. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Armstrong v</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Notably, Pardo had testified that Appellant did not commit the murders. As such, Pardo's testimony would not have properly been admitted where residual doubt is not an appropriate nonstatutory mitigating circumstance. <u>See Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404, 411 (Fla. 1992), citing <u>King v. State</u>, 514 So. 2d 354 (Fla. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 487 U.S. 1241, 108 S.Ct. 2916, 101 L.Ed.2d 947 (1988).

State, 642 So. 2d 730 (1994), <u>cert. denied</u>, 115 S.Ct. 1799, 514 U.S. 1085, 131 L.Ed.2d 726, citing <u>Parker v. Dugger</u>, 498 U.S. 308, 111 S.Ct. 731, 112 L.Ed.2d 812 (1991) (court may conduct a harmless error analysis or reweigh the remaining aggravating and mitigating circumstances even though the court has struck one or more of the aggravating factors).

# ISSUE VIII

NO ERROR RESULTED FROM THE SENTENCING ORDER'S DISCUSSION OF MITIGATION WHERE THE EVIDENCE PROFFERED PURSUANT TO <u>KOON V. DUGGER</u>, 619 SO. 2D 246 (FLA. 1993), FAILED TO CONSTITUTE ACTUAL EVIDENCE OF MITIGATION.

Appellant asserts error resulted from the sentencing order's failure to adequately discuss the proposed mitigating evidence set forth by defense counsel pursuant to Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 1993). Where Appellant waived both mitigation and any objection to the aggravators and specifically requested the death penalty, the sentencing order noted that the record was devoid of any evidence establishing any statutory mitigators. "Accordingly, the court reject[ed] the existence of ... statutory and nonstatutory circumstances which the jury was instructed on in the penalty phase of th[e] trial." (SR1439). Thus, while mitigation evidence must be considered and weighed when contained anywhere in the record, to the extent it is believable and uncontroverted, Farr v. State, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993), no mitigation evidence exists in this case. See also Lamarca v. State, (No. SC92610, Fla. March 8, 2001) (proffered mitigation evidence is not actual evidence).

The question of whether a mitigator has been established by the evidence is a question of fact and subject to the competent substantial evidence standard. <u>See Blanco v. State</u>, 706 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997), citing <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla.

1990). Where no competent substantial evidence supported any of the proposed mitigators, no error resulted from the trial court's order.

Moreover, in view of the lack of evidence supporting mitigation and the strength of the aggravating evidence, any error related to the sentencing order's assessment of the mitigating evidence must be deemed harmless. See Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59, 71 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 940, 513 U.S. 1129, 130 L.Ed.2d 884 (1995). <u>But see Muhammad v. State</u>, 2001 WL 40365 (Fla. January 18, 2001), citing Robinson v. State, 684 So. 2d 175, 176, 179 (Fla. 1996); and <u>Farr</u>, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369. Reversal of a death sentence is permitted only if this Court finds that the errors in weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances, if corrected, reasonably could have resulted in a lesser sentence. See Peterka, 640 So. 2d 59, 71, citing Robertson v. State, 611 So. 2d 1228, 1234 (Fla. 1993); see also Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 484 U.S. 1020, 108 S.Ct. 733, 98 L.Ed.2d 681 (1988). If there is no likelihood of a different sentence, the error is harmless. <u>See Peterka</u>, 640 So. 2d at 71, citing State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla.1986). Here, the evidence demonstrated no likelihood of a different sentence.

As mitigation, defense counsel proffered the following evidence: Appellant's age, Appellant's minor participation in the murders, Appellant's substantial domination by Pardo, the

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